THE COMMUNICATION CONTRIBUTION OF CHILDREN LEARNING TO USE SPEECH GENERATING DEVICE DURING PARENT-CHILD SHARED BOOK READING by Kendra Scotti Peabody College of Vanderbilt University May 2023

Major Area: Special Education

Number of Words: 9,235

The purpose of this research is to examine the nature of parent-child interactions for elementary-aged children (K-4th grade) who have complex communication needs and are learning to use speech generating devices. Data come from a larger longitudinal mixed method study focused on language and literacy learning of children with complex communication needs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Participants are 18 families who participated in the larger study whose children had access to a speech generating device at home. Video observational data were collected during parent-child interactions during everyday home routines (e.g., shared reading, other routines). Data will be coded using SALT and then analyzed using SPSS. Findings showed the heterogeneity of how children communicate based on frequency of communication and how frequency relates to other aspects of their communication, providing varied opportunities for parents to respond. The varied frequency patterns allowed for grouping of children into three groups, to reveal across group communication based on form, topic responsivity, function, and focus. Important insight from this study revealed information that can help shape the development of more effective interventions to support the communication of children with complex communication needs, especially at home.

THE COMMUNICATION CONTRIBUTION OF CHILDREN LEARNING TO USE SPEECH GENERATING DEVICE DURING PARENT-CHILD

SHARED BOOK READING

by

Kendra Scotti

Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of

Peabody College of Vanderbilt University

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

MASTER'S IN EDUCATION

In

Special Education

May 2023 Major Professor Second Reader Department Chair

Dean of Peabody College

5/1/2023

Date Date 21/2023 Date 5/4/23

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to give my deepest gratitude to my research supervisor, Dr. Elizabeth Biggs Ph.D.,

for providing me guidance throughout my research and writing of this thesis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Importance of Parent-Child Interactions	2
Perspectives of Parents with Children with Complex Communication Needs about	5
Parent-Child Interactions During Shared Reading	6
Purpose of this Study	8
II. Methods	10
Participants and Recruitment	10
Procedures	13
Observational Data Collection	13
Transcription	15
Coding of Child Verbal and Nonverbal Utterances	16
Form	19
Topic Responsivity	19
Function	20
Focus	20
Coders, Their Training, and Inter-Observer Agreement (IOA)	21
Data Analysis	22
Preliminary Data Analysis—Preparing the Data Set	22
Primary Data Analysis	22
III. Results	24
What is the Nature of Children's Communication Across the Full Sample?	24
Frequency, Rate, and Form of Children's Communication	25
Form of Communication	25

Topic Responsivity	25
Communicative Function	26
Focus of Communication Acts	26
How do Communication Profiles Vary Across Groups Based on Communication	26
Frequency for the Child?	20
Low-Frequency Communicators	28
Mid-Frequency Communicators	29
High-Frequency Communicators	31
IV. DISCUSSION, RECOMMENDATIONS, AND CONCLUSIONS	33
Limitations and Directions for Future Research	36
Implications for Practice	38
V. CONCLUSION	39
VI. REFERENCES	40

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Participant Characteristics	11
2.	Definitions and Examples of Each Code Across the Four Categories	18
3.	Participant Characteristics Within the Three Groups of Children Based on	
	Communication Frequency	30

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures		Page
1.	Box and Whiskers plot of the frequency of children's utterances, including	
	total utterances, form, topic responsivity, function, and focus	24
2.	The nature of child communicative utterances across the three frequency	
	groups	28

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Communication is a fundamental human right that enables people to express their feelings and needs, and it also facilitates interactions with others (Brady et al., 2016). Yet, many children with disabilities have significant communication difficulties; therefore, people around them will need to protect and promote their right to communicate. The term complex communication needs is used to describe individuals who have little to no use of functional verbal speech to meet their daily communication needs (Beukelman & Light, 2020). Children with a variety of disability diagnoses, including autism, Down syndrome, intellectual disability, cerebral palsy, Fragile X syndrome, Angelman syndrome, and other disabilities are apart of a heterogeneous group of children with complex communication needs (Beukelman & Light, 2020).

Children with complex communication needs can use augmentative and alternative communication to support their language and development (ASHA, 2022a). Having effective communication is important for children because it promotes their functioning and participation in their natural environments like school and home (ASHA, 2022a; Biggs et al., 2018; Morin et al., 2018). AAC is an overarching term which refers to ways of communicating beyond verbal speech, and it includes aided AAC and unaided AAC. Unaided AAC refers to ways of communicating that do not require external tools outside of one's body (e.g., sign language, gestures, or facial expressions), whereas aided AAC involves external tools, such as the use of

picture symbols, communication boards, communication books, or speech generating devices (Beukelman & Light, 2020). Aided AAC systems range widely in the nature of the technology used, from low-technology to high-technology. Low-technology aided AAC systems do not require batteries (e.g., picture symbols, communications boards, or books, or real or partial objects). In contrast, high-technology AAC refers to speech generating devices, which may be dedicated communication devices or non-dedicates, such as tablet computers (e.g., iPads) with AAC applications. In either case, speech generating devices produce speech output based on buttons that show icons or text, or both. (ASHA, 2022a; Beukelman & Light, 2020; Da Fonte & Boesch, 2019).

A sizeable and ever-growing body of literature demonstrates the effectiveness of aided AAC intervention with children with complex communication needs (Chavers et al., 2021; Ganz et al., 2011; Lorah et al., 2014; O'Neill et al., 2018). Yet, effective communication support requires more than providing children access to aided AAC— it requires the child's close communication partners, like their parents, to integrate the device into the child's daily life. Children need the important people in their lives to recognize, value, and support their communication, in all of its forms (Biggs & Meadan, 2018).

Importance of Parent-Child Interactions

Children's home environments—particularly their relationships and interactions with their parents—are crucial for their development (Biggs & Meadan, 2018). Through parent-child interactions, children build skills across domains, including communication, language, socialemotional, and cognition (Biggs & Meadan, 2018; Chavers et al., 2021; Fäldt et al., 2020; Jeon et al., 2013; Mendelsohn et al., 2018). The transactional model of development emphasizes the importance of responsive and bidirectional parent-child interactions to support a child's language

and communication development (Sameroff & Fiese, 2000). The back-and-forth turn-taking communication between children and their parents play important roles in children's language, communication, and literacy development (Warren & Brady, 2007).

Two features of parents' interactions with their children support their children's language learning, including (a) responsivity and (b) the quantity and quality of language input. Parent's topic responsivity is a multi-faceted construct that includes characteristics of the parents' stability, sensitivity, nurturance, and warmth as a direct response to their children's communication, behavior, and other cues (e.g., emotional cues) during their dyadic interactions (Bornstein & Tamis-LeMonda, 1989; Landry et al., 2001; Van Jeijl et al., 2006). Although definitions of parent responsivity vary, responsiveness generally comprises four aspects of parents' interaction styles: (a) contingent responding to their child, (b) emotional affective support, (c) joint attention with their child, and (d) providing language input that matches their child's level (Laudry et al., 2006, Spiker et al., 2002, Warren & Brady, 2007). Parent responsivity supports children's language learning when their interactions with their child are timely, positive, and contingent on the child's cues-in other words, when parents use language to build upon a child's attention and activity, following the focus of the child's lead (Spiker et al., 2002, Warren & Brady, 2007). Parent responsiveness has been associated with many positive outcomes for children's development, including increased language, cognitive skills, and social skills, and fewer behavioral and emotional problems (Landry et al., 2006; Van Zeijl et al., 2006).

The language input that parents provide during interactions also impacts their children's language and communication development (Rowe, 2012). Language input describes the quality and quantity of parental talk during their interactions with their child— specifically language directed to the child, and not another communication partner (Anderson et al., 2021). The

quantity of parental language input is generally measured as the number of words or utterances spoken to the child (Laks et al., 1990; Rowe, 2012). Yet, quantity of parental linguistic input is not all that matters—quality does as well – in terms of impacting their children's language and communication development. The *quality* of linguistic input can be defined in multiple ways, typically measured by interactive features (e.g., responsivity and joint-attention), linguistic features (e.g., vocabulary and lexical diversity), and conceptual features (i.e., the topics that parents talk about with their child; Anderson et al., 2021; Row & Snow, 2020). Putting together the ideas of responsivity and language input, it is clear that high-quality language input from parents is when parents respond directly to their child using language, modeling more complex words and phrases by building on and expanding their child's communicative attempts.

As important as parent-child interactions are for children's development, they do not come as easily when the child has complex communication needs, compared to when children are able to reliably use verbal speech to communicate (Biggs & Meadan, 2018; Kent-Walsh et al., 2010). Children with complex communication needs may have characteristics that can make turn taking between them and their parent more difficult, including: sensory hypersensitivities, slower response times, eye gaze avoidance, low rates of initiating communication, behavior challenges, briefer attention spans, difficulties with conversational discourse, and receptive and expressive language delays (McNaughton et al., 2008; Warren & Brady, 2007). Because social interactions are transactional, parents' behaviors are shaped by their children's behaviors. Relative to parents of children who are typically developing, parents of children with complex communication needs may be more likely to use less language, and their language may also be more directive of their child rather than responsive to their child (Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020).

Children's communication patterns shape the number and nature of opportunities for parents to be responsive to their child and to provide meaningful language input in response to their child's communication attempts (Laundry et al., 2012; Woynaroski et al., 2014).. As a result it is important to understand that children with complex communication needs vary in the frequency of their communication attempts when contributing in parent-child interactions (Laundry et al., 2012; Woynaroski et al., 2012; Woynaroski et al., 2014).

Perspectives of Parents with Children with Complex

Communication Needs about AAC

The parents of children who use Aided AAC have indicated that they find it challenging to support their children's AAC use (Johnson et al., 2006; Moorcroft et al., 2020). Parents who have had positive experiences with their children learning to use aided AAC underscore that they believe these devices have provided their children with greater communication access, increasing their children's autonomy and self-esteem (Wilder et al., 2015). Yet, many parents have indicated that it is difficult for them to learn how to use their child's new device in their day-to-day interactions (Batorowicz et al., 2014; Doka, 2019; Gona et al., 2014; Marshall & Goldbart, 2008; Moorcroft et al., 2020). Specifically, parents state this difficulty comes from the high demands of everyday life, including their job, raising multiple children, managing challenging behaviors, and household tasks, makes for little available time to implementing AAC use for many families (Moorcroft et al., 2021). Moorcroft and colleagues also found that many mothers reported abandoning AAC systems for other reasons, including feeling that their children's devices were slow, not user-friendly, physically not compatible, and difficult to navigate (2021).

Adding to these challenges, parents often lack support from professionals related to AAC—especially support that goes beyond knowing how to operate the device so that families can learn how to integrate the device into everyday life (Baxter et al., 2012). Parents describe feeling devalued and disregarded by AAC intervention professionals (Moorcroft et al., 2020). They feel AAC interventionist perceive themselves, as the professional, or the only "expert," on their child and fail to listen to parents' concerns, thoughts, or ideas (Moorcroft et al., 2020). Some parents who have abandoned AAC explain that they would have likely accepted and continued using their child's AAC system if they were provided the appropriate supports and given more regard by AAC intervention professionals(Moorcroft et al., 2020).

Parent-Child Interactions During Shared Reading

Shared book reading is a critical context that parents use to support their children's learning, including children with and without complex communication needs (Gilkerson et al., 2017; Mucchetti, 2013). Shared book reading refers when parents and their children read together, particularly when parents use scaffolding to support children's engagement, communicative interaction, and early language and literacy development (Anderson et al., 2021; Hudson & Test, 201; Landry et al., 2012). Shared book reading is part of many families' daily routines, although factors such as socioeconomic status, marital status, maternal education level, and ethnicity have been found to be associated with the frequency of book reading (Laundry et al., 2012; Scarborough & Dobrich, 1994; Tipton et al., 2017). Parent-child shared reading is also highly associated with later literacy outcomes— providing a foundation for future reading, communication, and social skills (Fleury & Hugh, 2018; Light & McNaughton, 20112; Schickedanz & McGee, 2010; Whitehurst & Lonigan, 1998).

Because transdirectional parent-child communicative interactions themselves are what is so important for children's learning, shared reading is more than parents reading a book verbatim to their child. Instead, high-quality book reading requires scaffolding, where the parent uses strategies to sustain social interactions and increase child engagement with and communication about the literature at hand (Fleury & Hugh, 2018). There are a variety of ways parents can scaffold these communications for more rich interactions—including questions, elaborations or comments, responses to children's communication, and print referencing (i.e., parents verbally calling attention to features of print and written language; Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020; Hudson & Test, 2011; Landry et al., 2012; Tipton et al., 2017). These strategies allow parents to turn shared reading into an important opportunity for the child to participate in (a) learning and using language; (b) learning and talking about the book and concepts (e.g., title, turning of a page, how to track print, what a word is, the meaning of print, alphabet concepts); and (c) thinking abstractly about books and stories, such as by making inferences, making predictions, and relating the story to their own real-world experiences (Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020; Biggs et al., 2022; Westerveld et al., 2020).

Although researchers have attended to the nature of parent-child interactions during shared book reading, they have generally focused more on *parents* ' behaviors and interaction styles than *children* 's communicative behaviors during book reading themselves. Only a few studies have given insight into how children with intellectual and developmental disabilities contribute to parent-child book reading interactions, but these have not necessarily focused on children with complex communication needs. For example, Barton-Hulsey and colleagues (2020) examined parent-child shared book reading for parents and their young children with Down syndrome, relative to parents of typically developing children. They found that children with Down syndrome used less spoken language and more gestures and non-word vocalizations than their same-age peers. Additionally, the mothers of children with Down syndrome scaffolded interactions by reading less verbatim and instead using more gestures than mothers of typically

developing children. Similarly, Fleury and Hugh (2018) examined differences in caregiver-child interactions during shared book reading for children with autism, compared to children who were typically developing. The found that children with autism were more likely to be passively engaged with the book (e.g., listening and looking at the book but not actively interacting) and more likely to be disruptive or unengaged behavior than their same-age peers without disabilities.

From a transactional perspective of language development, it is important to understand the nature of children's communication with their parents during shared book reading because their communication attempts will shape how parents can respond and further support their child's learning. Thus, it is important to understand how children with complex communication needs communicate with their parents during shared book reading. Such research could examine the nature of children's communication in terms of frequency of interactions, their form (e.g., prelinguistic, speech, aided AAC), function (e.g., comments, requests), and focus (e.g., labeling or describing pictures, communicating about print, communicating, and thinking more abstractly about a book).

Purpose of this Study

The purpose of this research was to examine the nature of children's contributions to parent-child interactions during shared book reading, particularly for elementary-aged children (K-4th grade) with complex communication needs who were learning how to use a speech generating device. The following research question: What is the nature of child communication during shared reading interactions with their parent? Focused in examining children's communication as a group, but it was also anticipated that children's communication would vary widely within the group because of their heterogeneity. Therefore, this research also is exploring

patterns of similarities and differences in children's communication based on how frequently they communicated (e.g., children who were low-, mid-, or high-rate communicators during book reading with their parents). Research was descriptive and exploratory, and so there is not a specific hypothesis. But, there is a particularly interest in understanding the following facets of children's communication with their parents: (a) the frequency and rate of their communication turns; (b) the form of their communication (e.g., use of gestures, non-word vocalizations, spoken words, and their speech generating device); (c) whether they primarily initiated topics or responded to their parent; (d) the function of their communication turns (e.g., commenting or answering questions, requesting or rejecting, asking questions); and (e) the focus of their communication (e.g., labeling or describing pictures in the book, communicating about print or the features of the book itself, communicating about more abstract concepts such as story structure).

CHAPTER II

METHODS

Participants and Recruitment

Participants were 18 elementary-aged children with complex communication needs, in Kindergarten (K) to 4th grade, and one of their parents. To be included in the study, a family had to live in the state of Tennessee, and their child had to (a) have an intellectual or developmental disability; (b) receive special education services in grades K-4 at a public school; (c) have complex communication needs; and (d) be learning to use a high-technology speech generating device and have access to it at home. For the purpose of the study, having complex communication needs was defined as using prelinguistic (gestures and vocalizations) or early linguistic communication (single words or phrases that were 2-3 words), and this was measured based on parent-report through the Communication Matrix (Rowland & Fried-Oken, 2010).

Participants were a sub-set of participants from a larger mixed method study. Recruitment for this larger study involved sharing study information with potential families through emails and flyers that were distributed across the state of Tennessee. Study information was sent through multiple means—specifically school districts, service providers, and disabilityrelated and non-disability-related community associations (e.g., parent support groups, disability organizations, faith communities, community centers). Families that were interested were directed by the recruitment materials to the study's website for additional information and a

interest form. If the family completed the interest form, they were contacted by a research team

member for an eligibility screening performed over the phone.

Participant information is reported in Table 1.

Table 1

Participant	Characteristics
-------------	-----------------

	n (%)	M (SD)
Child characteristics		
Age		7.6 years $(SD = 1.4)$
Female	10 (55.6%)	
Grade		
Kindergarten	5 (27.8%)	
$1^{st}-2^{nd}$	7 (38.9%)	
$3^{rd}-4^{th}$	6 (33.3%)	
Household/family characteristics		
Second caregiver in the household	14 (77.8%)	
Other children/siblings	18 (100.0%)	
Family income		
< \$30,000	3 (16.7%)	
\$30,000-69,999	4 (22.2%)	
\$70,000-110,000	4 (22.2%)	
> \$110,000	6 (33.3%)	
Prefer not to report	1 (5.6%)	
Parent respondent characteristics		
Age		39.4 years ($SD = 7.6$)
Racial/ethnic background		
White, non-Hispanic or Latino	17 (94.4%)	
Multiple races/ethnicities	1 (5.6%)	
Highest education level		
High school diploma or GED	1 (5.6%)	
Some college	5 (27.8%)	
Trade/technical/vocational training	1 (5.6%)	
Bachelor's degree	7 (38.9%)	
Graduate degree	4 (22.2%)	
Employment and student status		
Employed full or part time	6 (33.3%)	
Unemployed or work-from-home	6 (33.3%)	
Student, not working	1 (5.6%)	
Student and employed	5 (27.8%)	

SIS-C = Supports Intensity Scale, Children's Version ^a One child had a dual diagnosis of cerebral palsy and autism. ^b Data were missing for two participants.

Of the 18 children, just over half were female (55.6%), and most were White and non-Hispanic (94.4%). One child was biracial. Children had different primary disabilities: autism (50%; n = 8), Down syndrome (33.3%; n = 6), and specific genetic conditions associated with intellectual disabilities (11.1%; n = 2), combined autism and Down syndrome (5.6%; n = 1), and combined autism and cerebral palsy (5.6%; n = 1). Most children had multiple diagnoses, including developmental delay (50%, n = 9), intellectual disability (44.4%, n = 8), chronic health condition(s) (38.9%, n = 7), attention-deficit/hyperactive disorder (ADHD) (11.1%, n = 2), anxiety (5.6%, n = 1), and visual impairment (5.6%, n = 1). The intensity of children's support needs was evaluated using a standardized measure called the Supports Intensity Scale-Children's Version (SIS-C; Thompson et al., 2014). Across children, the average standardized percentile score was 44.0 (SD = 28.1), which means that the children in this study, on average, had greater support needs than 44.0% of other same-aged children with an intellectual or developmental disability. Standardized percentile scores ranged widely in the sample though, from 1.0% to 92.9%. Further, based on the SIS-C ratings, one-half of children had intensive behavioral support needs (50%) and one-third had intensive medical support needs (33.3%).

Parent reported communication skills for their children ranged from mostly pre-linguistic communication (e.g., gestures and non-word vocalizations) to linguistic communication, which ranged from a few single words to longer phrases or short sentences used (speech or aided AAC). All of the children had access to a speech generating device that they were learning to use, with 88.9% of parents reporting that their child used the device at least *rarely* when they were home. Almost three-quarters (72.2%) of participants used an iPad as a non-dedicated speech generating device; the remaining participants had a dedicated speech generating device (27.8%).

Most participating parents were children's biological mother (83.3%, n = 15); two were their biological fathers (11.1%), and one was an adoptive mother (5.6%). Most were married or had two parent homes (77.8%, n = 14). Approximately two-thirds of (61.1%, n = 11) parents had a bachelor's degree or higher as their highest level of education. Six parents were employed full or part time (33.3%), six were either unemployed, stayed at home, or worked from home (33.3%), one was a student who was not employed (5.6%), and five were students and also employed (27.8%). Just over half of families lived in a suburban setting (55.6%, n = 10); 33.3% lived in rural settings (n = 6) and 11.1% in urban settings (n = 2).

Procedures

Data was collected through remote video observations of parents and their children reading together in their home. Observations were conducted as part of a larger, longitudinal mixed methods study focused on the experiences of parents with children with complex communication needs, related to supporting their child's language and literacy learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, observations were conducted at just one time point within this broader project (January 2021), and so the current study is cross-sectional not longitudinal.

Observational Data Collection

Observations were structured by having each parent-child dyad participate in a shared book reading episode where they read two different books. One book was selected by the parent from their home, and they were directed to choose either their child's favorite book or their child's most familiar book (if their child did not have a favorite book). The other book was one of two books that were selected by the research team. Specifically, prior to the observations,

participants were mailed two books, both authored by Mo Willems: *The Pigeon Finds a Hot Dog!* and *There is a Bird on Your Head!* These books were selected because they are both similarly short, age-appropriate, and engaging books (with silly characters and engaging illustrations). In addition, they are books that are well-designed for emergent literacy learners because they have high print-salience (i.e., large text, colored text, text in speech bubbles) and many easy to read words (i.e., simple decodable words, high-frequency sight words). Parents could select either book that was mailed to read during the observation, based on what they thought would be best for their child. They could also read the books in any order (i.e., the preferred book and then one of the mailed books, or the other way around). Out of the 18 families, 11 choose to read *The Pigeon Finds a Hot Dog!* (61.1%) and 7 choose to read *There is a Bird on Your Head!* (38.9%).

Observations were conducted and video recorded by a research team member through web-based video recording (Zoom). Each research team member had been able to build rapport with the family before the observation because they conducted interviews with the parent as part of the larger mixed method study. The parent selected the day and time for the observation, based on a time that worked well for them and their child, such as if they had a regular time of day that they read together. The parent also selected the location in their home to read, which most often was the parent's or child's bedroom, the family living room, or the kitchen; one family read with their child in their backyard while the child was on a swing set because the mother said it was a strategy, they used to help their child engage with books. After the parent and researcher logged into Zoom, the researcher (a) greeted the parent and child; (b) reminded the parent that they would be video recording; (c) confirmed that they had books ready and the speech generating device within arm's reach; and (d) helped the parent position the recording

device (e.g., laptop, phone) in a way that the parent and child could be seen and heard clearly. The researcher then explained to parents that the purpose was to see how they and their child normally read together, and that they should not feel pressure to do anything special or different. Related to the speech generating device, the researcher ensured each parent had the device available, but they instructed the parent to simply use the device however they normally would. The researcher then muted themselves and hid their video so that it was not a distraction, telling the parent they could begin reading whenever they were ready. Parents read both books with their child in sequence, and then the researcher came back on camera to end the session. Thus, the observations were structured by having all parents read two books with their children, but the duration ranged based on the nature of the interactions. The average length of the video observation (i.e., for both books combined) was 9 min, 16 s (range, 06:03 to 15:42; SD = 02:48).

Transcription

Video recordings were trimmed to include only the length of the actual shared book reading interactions, and then each video was transcribed by one of nine student research assistants. The research assistants were undergraduate and graduate (master's) students who had been trained in using Systematic Analysis of Language Transcripts (SALT) software for transcription of parent-child interactions. SALT is a software used to standardize the process of transcribing, analyzing, and understanding child's communication and linguistic features, as well as adult language input and other strategies used to support child language learning (Miller et al., 2019).

In accordance with SALT conventions, all child and parent utterances were transcribed into communication units (C-units). Using C-units ensures standardization of the transcription process by breaking down verbatim utterances into either (a) a main clause or (b) a main clause with its subordinating clause (Miller et al., 2019). In addition to children's linguistic communication (i.e., children's speech or aided AAC use), children's prelinguistic communication acts were also transcribed, so long as they were accompanied with evidence of communicative intent (e.g., orientation to the parent, signs of persisting with the message, gaining parents' attention). Unintelligible child utterances that were intentional communication acts were transcribed as either x (single non-word vocalization or unintelligible word) or xxx (multiple non-word vocalizations or unintelligible words strung together); this included both non-word vocalizations that were intentional communication and unintelligible words. Children's communicative gestures were transcribed using descriptions of the gesture in brackets. Verbatim read lines of the book's text (whether by the parent or child) were also transcribed through the SALT software, but they were marked with a code as being read to distinguish them from extratextual talk (see Coding below). Children's speech sounds or body movements that were not accompanied with signs of being intentional communication to the parent were not transcribed. To ensure the accuracy of transcripts, each transcript was (a) transcribed by one trained research assistant, and then (b) independently verified and corrected as needed by a second trained research assistant. The team met weekly for SALT transcription meetings which allowed for group discussion and ensured the team resolved all questions or disagreements (Baker et al., 2015).

Coding of Child Verbal and Nonverbal Utterances

Although parent and child utterances were transcribed, this study only involved analysis of child utterances because of the interest in children's contributions to the book reading

interactions. The research team developed a coding framework to analyze child utterances, adapting the work of previous researchers (Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020). Research team members coded the transcripts while watching the video recordings, which supported the accuracy of coding. There were four categories of codes, capturing the four facets of children's communication that were of interest: (a) form, (b) topic responsivity, (c) function, and (d) focus. In general, coders applied one code from each category to each child utterance line on the transcript. The two exceptions to this were: (a) when child utterances were lines read from the book (in which case the utterance line was marked only with one of the "READ" codes), or (b) when child utterances were only non-word vocalizations or unintelligible speech (in which case the utterance line was marked only with in each of the four categories are described below and presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Code Category and Code	Description	Example
Form		
Non-word vocalization	Non-word or unintelligible vocalizations with communicative intent	Child says, "la" when looking at book illustration
Gesture	Physical gesture or sign with communication intent	Child reaches to an object and looks up to their parent
Non-word vocalization and gesture combination	Use of a gesture and non-word vocalization together for communication	Child shows a desired book to their parent and vocalizes
Speech	Words or word approximations spoken without aided AAC	Child points to the book and says "there is a man"
AAC	Aided AAC with no spoken words	Child presses the symbol for apple, and it generates speech for chosen word
Speech and AAC combination	Spoken words and word approximations paired with aided AAC	Child says, " the dog" and presses the symbol for dog on the SGD
Topic continuing	Utterance continues the same or a closely related topic of their partners prior utterance. Or following a read utterance the child's utterance actively contributed to the topic that was read.	Mother says, "look at the smiling pig." The child says "happy" and points to the illustration.
Topic initiating	The child's utterance introduces a new topic, that is not to focus of either partner's most recent utterance.	The parent is talking about the book illustrations and the child says, "I am hungry."
Function	r	8-9-
Question or directive for language	Question or directive for communication partner to respond with language	"What is that?"
Request or directive for behavior	Requests or directives for communication partner to respond with a behavior	"Look here." when the partner is looking in another direction
Comment	Comments, descriptions, responses to questions or other statements that do not request anything	"This book is about hot dogs."
Read	Verbatim reading of text	Child reads verbatim "the cat's name is Sam" from the book without full prompting by adult
Read-P	Child's verbatim reading of text fully prompted by adult	Parent says, "read the hat was big." Pointing to the text then the child read verbatim "the hat was big."
Focus		veroutini the nut trus org.
Label	Language explicitly labels or names an immediate referent in the environment.	The child says "pig!" when looking at a picture of a pig
Description	Language explicitly describes an object or action in the environment, beyond labeling it	The child says, "pink pig," "fast car," or "happy baby" to describe a specific referent
Book and print concepts	Utterances that identify standard conventions of a book or concepts of print through linguistic or non- linguistic means	The child says "turn the page."

Letter name	Utterance that identifies or ask about a letter or letters' name.	Child says "K!" and points to the letter K	
Decoding and encoding	Identifying, manipulating, or segmenting/blending sounds of a word and referencing the graphemes in the book.	When trying to decode the word "chat" the child says /tʃ/, but does not read the word successfully	
Cognitive abstract thinking	The child thinking critically about the book by making comments or directives that compare/contrast, evaluate, infer, predict, make judgements, or addresses story elements	Parent infers the child's knowledge by asking "what did he find?" and the child responds, "a bunny!" and the next page is a bunny.	
Cognitive connection	Child's communication links the book to their own real-world experience	The child says "my house" when pointing to the book's illustration of a home	
Other	Utterances that do not fall under language-focused, print-focused, cognitive-focused codes	Directives for behavior or engagement (e.g., "come here") Simple agreement utterances (e.g., "yeah") Other short utterances (e.g., yes/no) Utterances with a subject that is not an environmental referent	

Form. Each child utterance line that was non-read was coded as being one of the following forms of communication: (a) non-word vocalization (including non-word speech sounds and unintelligible speech); (b) gesture or body movement (including manual signs, where were almost never used by children in the sample); (c) a combination of both a gesture and a vocalization; (d) speech (i.e., an intelligible spoken word); (e) the speech generating device (i.e., aided AAC); or (f) a combination of both speech and the speech generating device. Later in analysis, utterances comprised of gestures or body movements, or non-word vocalizations were combined into a category of *prelinguistic communication*.

Topic Responsivity. Topic responsivity was coded for all child utterances that were (a) non-read, and (b) not solely comprised of a non-word vocalization. There were two topic responsivity codes: *topic continuing* and *topic initiating*. A "topic" was defined as the focus of the communicative interaction, such as the referent object, action, or event that was being discussed by the parent or child. Therefore, topic *continuing* utterances were when children

responded contingently to their parent, continuing the same topic. Topic continuing utterances could follow parent comments, parent questions, or parent lines read verbatim (i.e., if the child communicated about the same topic their parent just read). Topic *initiating* utterances were anytime children introduced a new topic that the parent had not yet talked about in that exchange. For example, if a child initiated a topic and the parent did not respond to that topic, all the child utterances about that topic would be topic initiating, unless or until the parent responded contingently to the topic (Yoder et al., 1994).

Function. The function of the child's utterance was its communicative purpose, and all child utterances that were not solely comprised of a non-word vocalization were coded for function, including read lines. If a child utterance was read it was given a "READ" code unless the parent fully prompted the child (i.e., told them what to say to read the line), and then it was coded as "READ-P." All non-read child utterances (that were not comprised solely of a non-word vocalization) were coded as one of the following functions: (a) question, (b) request (which included any request or protest), or (c) comment or other response, such as a response to a parent question.

Focus. Like with topic responsivity, all child utterances that were (a) non-read and (b) not solely comprised of a non-word vocalization were coded for focus. We used focus codes to capture areas of specific interest, specifically (a) if the child labeled or described pictures in the book or other referent objects (which we called *language-focused* utterances to capture our interest in how children used content language about specific referents), (b) if the child communicated about print (e.g., letter names, letter sounds) or book conventions (e.g., pointing to print, talking about the title, author, or parts of a book) which we called *print-focused* utterances to capture our interest in how children our interest in how children communicated about print, or (c) if the child

communicated using more decontextualized language, including abstract thinking (e.g., predicting, addressing story elements) or making connections between the book and their own life (which we together called *cognitive-focused* utterances). Utterances were coded as "OTHER" for focus if they were not language-focused, print-focused, or cognitive-focused.

Coders, Their Training, and Inter-Observer Agreement (IOA)

Primary coders were three coders consisting of the author and two other research assistants—one undergraduate research assistant and one graduate (master's) research assistant. Each coder was trained by the lead faculty advisor in the rules and procedures to code SALT transcripts for analysis. Training consisted of approximately 6-hours of direct instruction from the faculty advisor (including using a coding manual, clear explanations of codes, examples and non-examples, modeling of coding procedures, and guided practice), independent coding practice with specific feedback from the faculty advisor, and the completion of "test" videos. Each coder had to complete two separate test videos (each about 10 min in length) and achieve a satisfactory level of reliability on each code category (i.e., Kappa of .6 or greater) before beginning to code study data.

To address reliability of coding, six transcripts (33.3%) were randomly selected to be coded by a second coder. This was done by a Cohen's Kappa analysis (Cohen 1960), which is appropriate given the categorical nature of the coding framework. Kappa analyses were run separately on each of the four code categories: form, function, focus, and topic responsivity, then they were averaged across those for categories to determine a total estimate of reliability. Average kappa was 0.90, which involved the following averages for each code category: 0.98 for

form (range, 0.90 to 1.00), 0.92 for function (range, 0.86 to 1.00), 0.86 for topic responsivity (range, 0.67 to 0.95), and 0.85 for focus (range, 0.77 to 0.94).

Data Analysis

Preliminary Data Analysis—Preparing the Data Set

Preliminary data analysis consisted of two main processes—extracting data from SALT for each child related to the linguistic features of their communication (e.g., number of different words) and transferring the SALT codes to SPSS for further analysis. First, **I** used SALT to produce the following variables for each child, based on the parent-child shared reading episode (both books): (a) total number of child utterances, (b) the mean length of utterances in words (MLU), and (c) the number of different words (NDW). Second, **I** conducted initial analysis of the codes for children's communicative utterances (i.e., form, topic responsivity, function, focus). To do this, data for each individual participant from SALT was transferred to SPSS (version 29) by creating separate data files for each individual participant. In these individual data files, each row of the data set represented one utterance from the child. The columns of the data were comprised of the four code categories, with categorical options for the individual codes in each cell. This allowed me to use SPSS to calculate the *frequency* and *proportion* of different types of child utterances for each child in the sample based on the four code categories.

Primary Data Analysis

Based on the research question and goals, the focused analyses on describing children's communication (a) as a full sample and (b) for smaller subgroups was based on the frequency of their communication with their parent during shared reading. Descriptive statistics and data

visualization were used to accomplish both goals. First, for the full sample, I created a set of Box and Whisker Plots (also called a Box Plot). Box and Whisker plots depict the distribution of the data by showing (a) the median value, as a horizontal line, (b) the second and third quartile, as a larger black box, and (c) the minimum and maximum values, as extended lines. To visualize the data, I used a series of Box and Whisker Plots to show the different features of children's communication as a whole group, including the number of read and non-read lines, and then the form, topic responsivity, function, and focus of each of children's non-read utterances.

Second, participating children were separated into three groups based on the frequency of their communication with their parent during shared reading. Frequency was used, rather than rate, because observations were structured based on each parent-child dyad reading two books, rather than restricting the observations to a certain amount of time. Thus, to create groups, the frequency of children's utterances were examined with their parents across the two books. The groups were created by separating participants into quartiles based on their communication frequencies. The low-frequency group were participants in the first quartile, the mid-frequency group included participants that fell within the second and third quartiles (i.e., the middle 50%), and the high-frequency group were participants in the fourth quartile.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

What is the Nature of Children's Communication Across the Full Sample?

Figure 1 displays the Box and Whiskers Plots showing the nature of children's communication for the entire sample of children.



Figure 1. Box and whisker plot of the frequency of children's utterances, including total utterances, form, topic responsivity, function and focus.

The figure shows the frequency of children's total utterances as a group (read and non-read utterances), along with the different features of interest of these utterances— their form, topic responsivity, function, and focus. Most child utterances were non-read (90.2%). Of 869 total child utterances across the full sample, 799 were non-read and 66 were read utterances (including read utterances that were prompted, meaning the children's parents told them the word to read). Only six participants had any read utterances (including those prompted), ranging from 3-31 instances across the two books they read with their parents. Just over half of the read utterances (53.5%) were prompted by the parent (i.e., the parent fully modeled/told them what to say), and children never used their aided AAC to read words from the books. Child participants used 328 new and different words (NDW), throughout all book reading sessions, ranging from 0-66 different words per participant (M = 18.2; SD = 23.0). The mean length of communicative utterances (MLU) was 0.9 words per utterance (SD = 0.66).

Frequency, Rate, and Form of Children's Communication

The frequency of children's communication during parent-child book reading varied widely across the sample. The median number of utterances across the two books (not including read utterances) was 34.5, which ranged from 0-184 (M = 44.4, SD = 47.9). The rate of child's utterances varied in similar patterns as frequency. On average, children had 4.3 utterances per min, ranging from 0 to 12 (SD = 3.9; Mdn = 3.5).

Form of Communication

Children almost never used their speech generating devices. Specifically, only one child used their aided AAC device during the observation and their device was only used in seven of this child's total utterances (i.e., 3.8% of that child's utterances). Thus, when looking at the whole group of children, aided AAC use only comprised 0.9% of their communication. Instead of aided AAC, children more regularly used verbal speech (53.8% of all of children's non-read utterances) and prelinguistic communication such as gestures/body movements or non-word vocalizations (45.3% of non-read utterances). The median number of speech utterances for each child was 8.5 (M = 23.7, range 0-118), and the median number of prelinguistic utterances for each child was 11.5 (M = 20.0, range 0-60).

Topic Responsivity

Children continued topics with their communication more than they initiated topics; more than two-thirds of coded utterances were topic-continuing (70.2%), and just under one-third were topic-initiating (29.8%). The median number of topic-continuing utterances for each child was

11 (M = 24.56, range 0-92), and the median number of topic-initiating utterances was 4.5 (M = 10.44, range 0-64).

Communicative Function

Almost all of children's non-read utterances were comments or other responses, and children rarely asked questions, requested, or protested. More specifically, 94.4% of non-read child utterances coded for function were comments, with a median number of 15.5 per child across the two books (M = 33.5, range 0-154). Requests made up 4.4% of children's non-read utterances, with a median of only 1 per child (M = 1.56, range 0-5). Questions made up 1.3% of non-read utterances, with a median of 0 per child (M = 0.44, range 0-5).

Focus of Communication Acts

Most of children's utterances were coded as "OTHER" for focus (74.5%), rather than being language-focused (i.e., labels or descriptions), print-focused, or cognitive-focused. Within the three areas of focus, children's utterances were much more likely to be language-focused (i.e., labels or descriptions of referents such as the pictures of the book), and they were much less likely to be print-focused or cognitive-focused. Language-focused utterances made up 20.5% of children's utterances, with a median of 1.5 language-focused utterances per child (M = 7.28, range 0-29). Print-focused utterances made up only 2.8% of children's utterances, with a median of 0 per child (M = 1, range 0-14). Cognitive-focused utterances made up 22.2%, with a median of 0 per child (M = 0.78, range 0-6).

> How do Communication Profiles Vary Across Groups Based on Communication Frequency for the Child?

Figure 2 displays information about the nature of children's communication across the three groups—low-frequency communicators, mid-frequency communicators, and high-frequency communicators.



Figure 2. The nature of child communicative utterances across the three frequency groups.

In the sections below, I provide information about the characteristics of the children in each group (e.g., primary disability, AAC type, age, gender, supports intensity from the SIS-C), and then report findings about the nature of their communication. Table 3 also summarizes information about children's characteristics across the three groups.

Low-Frequency Communicators

There were five children in this group (27.8% of the sample), and the frequency of their communication ranged from 0-7 utterances across the two books (M = 3.6; SD = 3.1). Of note, one child never communicated intentionally with their parent (in any mode) during the book

reading episode, and a second child in this group had only one non-word vocalization that was intentional communication. Related to the characteristics of the children in this group, all but one child used a nondedicated iPad as a communication device (80%). Four of the five children had autism (including one child with autism and cerebral palsy) (80.0%), and one child had Down syndrome (20.0%). They ranged in age from 6 years; 4 months to 9 years; 9 months (M = 7;5), and four were male (80%). Two children were in the second grade (40%), and one child was in first (20%), third (20%), and fourth grades (20%). On average, children in this group had a standardized SIS-C percentile score of 63.2% (SD = 16.9), indicating they had more intensive support needs than 63.2% of other same-age children with intellectual and developmental disabilities.

See Figure 2 for a visualization of the nature of the communication from children in this group, relative to the other two groups. Related to form, all four children from this group who applied intentional communication used only prelinguistic communication (100%), including gestures and non-word vocalizations. Children responded to topics more than they initiated topics, with topic-continuing turns making up an average of 71.4% of their utterances (range, 14.0% to 100.0%). Most of their utterances were comments/other responses (M = 76.2% of their utterances; range, 29.0% to 100%). The focus of every utterance from this group of children was entirely "other" (M = 100%), which means no language-focused, print-focused, or cognitive-focused utterances were observed. The mean length of each communicative utterances (MLU) used by this group was 0.2 words per utterance (SD = 0.4; range, 0 to 1). There was only one word communicated in this group, so the new and different words (NDW) communicated was one (M = 0.2; SD = 0.4).

Mid-Frequency Communicators

There were nine children in this group (50.0% of the sample), and they ranged from having 10-62 communicative utterances across the two books (M = 36.0; SD = 21.5). Regarding their disability diagnoses, five had autism (55.6%), two had Down syndrome (22.2%), one had a specific genetic disorder, called SCN8A (11.1%), and one had both autism and Down syndrome (11.1%). They ranged in age from 6 years; 0 months to 9 years; 4 months (M = 8;0), and just over half were female (55.6%). Four children were in the third grade (44.4%), and two children were in both kindergarten (22.2%) and first grade (22.2%); one child was in second grade (11.1%). On average, children in this group had a standardized SIS-C percentile score of 44.2 (SD = 28.3) (see Table 3).

Table 3

	Low-frequency	Mid-frequency	High-frequency
	n = 5	n = 9	n = 4
Disability			
Autism	60.0%	55.6%	0.0%
Down syndrome	20.0%	22.2%	75.0%
Autism and Down syndrome	0.0%	11.1%	0.0%
Autism and cerebral palsy	20.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Genetic condition	0.0%	11.1%	25.0%
AAC device			
Dedicated device	20.0%	44.4%	0.0%
iPad	80.0%	55.6%	100.0%
Age	M = 7.5 years (SD = 1.1)	M = 8.0 years (SD = 1.3)	M = 6.8 years (SD = 1.9)
Gender			
Female	20.0%	44.4%	0.0%
Male	80.0%	55.6%	100.0%
Supports intensity (SIS-C)	<i>M</i> =63.2 (<i>SD</i> =16.9)	$M = 44.2 \ (SD = 28.3)$	$M = 24.4 \ (SD = 27.7)$

Participant Characteristics in the Groups of Children Based on Communication Frequency.

Note. AAC = Augmentative alternative communication; SIS-C = Supports Intensity Scale – Children's Version

Figure 2 displays information about the nature of the communication of children in this group, relative to the other two groups. Related to form, children communicated primarily with prelinguistic communication such as gestures or non-word vocalizations, comprising on average 62.4% of their utterances (range, 11.0% to 100.0%). They responded to topics more than they initiated topics, with topic-continuing turns making up on average 60.1% of their utterances (range, 0.0% to 92.0%). Nearly all of their communication were comments/other responses (M = 91.1% of their utterances, range 64.0% to 100%); 8.5% were requests and 0.4% were questions. Most of their utterances were coded as "other" for focus (76.8%, range 38.0%-100.0%). An average of 21.9% of their utterances were language-focused (i.e., labels and descriptions), with a range of 0.0%-63.0%; 1.5% of utterances were cognitive-focused (range, 0.0% – 12.0%), and no utterances were print-focused. This group's mean length of communicative utterances (MLU) was 1.1 words per utterance, ranging from 0 to 2.0 words (SD = 0.6), and they used a total of 156 new and different words (NDW), ranging from 0 to 66 words per participant (M = 17.3; SD = 23.2).

High-Frequency Communicators

There were four children in this group (22.2% of the sample), and the frequency of their communication ranged from 77-84 utterances across the two books (M = 114.3; SD = 47.5). Three of the four children had Down syndrome (75.0%) and one had a specific genetic disorder called 16p11.2 Deletion Syndrome (25.0%). They ranged in age from 5 years; 4 months to 9 years; 5 months (M = 6;10), and all were female (100%). Two children were in the kindergarten (50.0%), and one child was in first (25.0%) and third grade (25.0%). On average they had more intensive support needs than about 24.4% of other same-age children with intellectual and

developmental disabilities, based on their SIS-C percentile score (M = 24.4; SD = 27.7) (see Table 3).

Related to form, children in this group communicated primarily using linguistic communication (66.0% of their utterances; range, 53.0% to 79.0%)—most often speech as only one child used their speech generating device, and only very rarely (see Figure 2). They responded to topics more than they initiated topics (M = 77.0% topic-continuing, range 59.0%-97.0%). Nearly all their utterances were comments/other responses (M = 96.3%, range, 89.0 – 100%); 2.0% of their utterances were questions (range 0.0 - 7.0%), and 1.7% were behavior requests (range 0.0 - 4.0%). On average, more than two-thirds of children's utterances were "other" in focus (M = 70.0%, range, 61.0 - 79.0%); an average of 25.0% of children's utterances were labels and descriptions (i.e., language-focused) (range, 12.0 - 38.0%), 3.7% focused on print (range, 0.0 - 9.0%), and the remaining 1.3% were cognitive-focused (range, 0.0 - 4.0%). The mean length of each communicative utterances (MLU) used by this group was 1.36 words per utterance (SD = 0.4; range, 1.15 to 1.9), this group used a total of 171 new and different word (NDW; M = 42.8; SD = 14.8; range, 31 to 64).

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

This study investigated the nature of child communication for children with complex communication needs during shared book reading interactions with their parent, particularly for children who were reported to be learning to use a speech generating device. There is limited available research on what daily interactions look like between parents and their children learning to use aided AAC. The findings of this research expand existing knowledge and provide implications for research and practice by showing the variation in how and how often child communicate with their parents during book reading.

First, there was wide variability in the frequency of children's communication with their parents during book reading, and based on frequency patterns we were able to group children into three groups. It can be tempting to treat children with complex communication needs as one group, given the reality that they are a low-incidence group of children. But, the findings from this study show heterogeneity in several key ways about how children communicated with their parents— particularly related to frequency, but then also how frequency related to other aspects of their communication. It is important to keep in mind just how widely children's frequency varied. This is especially important to consider because the varying frequency of children's communication creates varying amounts of opportunities for parents to be responsive to their child with additional language input (Landry et al., 2012). Looking back at the findings from this study, it becomes clearer just how many more opportunities some parents have to respond to

their children's communication. Across just two books in the observed episodes, children in the low-frequency group had an average of 3.6 communicative utterances, children in the mid-frequency group had an average of 36.0, and children in the high-frequency group had an average of 114.3—more than 30 times the opportunities for parents to respond as children in the low-frequency group. This is important because, according to the transactional model of development, parents' language input for their children will be shaped by their children's contributions to the interaction, which in turn shapes children's language and communication development (Sameroff & Fiese, 2000).

There are a few things that make this study unique in the contribution it offers to the broader literature about parent-child book reading. First, most prior studies have largely focused on children who reliably use verbal speech for communication (Baker & Vernon-Feagans, 2015; Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020; Landry et al., 2012), but we focused on children with complex communication needs who were learning to use speech generating devices. Additionally, most other studies have focused specifically on children with a specific diagnosis such as autism or Down syndrome (Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020; Tipton et al., 2017; Westerveld et al., 2020), whereas we included children who had many different types of intellectual and developmental disabilities. This allowed us to gain some initial insight into how disability type might shape aspects of children's contributions to parent-child interactions during book reading. Of note, children with autism were more likely to be in the low- or mid-frequency groups (no children with autism were in the high-frequency group), and children with Down syndrome were more likely to be in the high-frequency group. Future researchers might consider looking further at patterns of behavioral phenotypes which are tied to specific disability labels. Doing this could allow more tailored AAC interventions which could address individual strengths and interests of

children, but also leverage understanding of children's behavioral phenotype to improve communication outcomes.

Second, the findings of this study revealed children's communication across all three groups was characterized primarily by being comments or other responses that were "other" in focus. This means that children did not communicate very often for the reasons that we were especially interested in: (a) using language to label or describe things in the book (languagefocused), (b) referencing print or communicating about book and print concepts (print-focused), or (c) communicating more about the meaning of the study, by making connections or thinking abstractly (cognitive-focused). Shared book reading provides a context for increased use of a more diverse vocabulary, and the focus of children's contributions to book reading with their parents is likely tied to the focus of their parent's utterances (Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020; Landry et al., 2012; Tipton et al., 2017). For example, other researchers have found that parents themselves rarely reference or call attention to print as they read, including parents of children with and without disabilities (Justice et al., 2002; Westerveld et al., 2020). In this study, only children in the high-frequency communicator group ever communicated about print, and only rarely—with only 2.8% of utterances being focused on print. Cognitive-focused utterances were also extremely limited (only 2.2% of children's utterances), but even language-focused utterances were somewhat rare (i.e., 20.5% of children's utterances). Thus, even though shared book reading provides opportunity for increased use of vocabulary and opportunities to think and talk abstractly about stories (Scarborough & Dobrich, 1994), children with complex communication needs only infrequently communicate in these ways during book reading with their parents.

Finally, all of the children in this sample had access to aided AAC at home, but we learned they were not using these speech generating devices to communicate with their parents during book reading. Specifically, of the 18 participating children, only one used their aided AAC device at all, and when they did, it was constricted to only a few instances. This findingabout the lack of AAC integration into parent-child shared reading-is crucially important to consider, but it may actually not be all that surprising because it seems to build on existing literature where parents have expressed the challenges, they have knowing how to support their child's AAC use at home (Baxter et al., 2012; Moorcroft et al., 2020). Yet, this finding is concerning. Most AAC devices are underutilized or abandoned, with one study finding that speech-language pathologists reported fewer than 40% of AAC systems were used successfully for more than one year (Johnson et al., 2006). Parents have reported they abandon their child's aided AAC device for several reasons—most often because they find that integrating AAC into their daily routines is difficult, and because they feel alone and lack support from professionals (Moorcroft & Meyer, 2021; Moorcroft et al., 2020). More parental support could impact and increase a child's use of their AAC system during parent-child shared reading and decrease device abandonment. The lack of AAC integration among our participants is evident, learning that only 0.88% of all communicative utterances by children involved using their AAC device, and one child produced all of the 7 utterances involving the AAC device.

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

There are limitations that should be mentioned. First, though our sample size is consistent to prior research using similar observational methods (Barton-Hulsey et al., 2020; Berenguer et al., 2022; Burgess et al., 2013), the sample size is still modest (n = 18), and so it is difficult to know how representative the findings would be for the larger population of students with

complex communication needs. Future research with a larger sample could allow other types of quantitative analysis, such as to explore child or family-related characteristics that predict aspects of children's communication such as frequency. In this study, we took only a descriptive approach. Second, we chose to combine children's use of manual signs with other gestures and body movements (e.g., pointing, reaching) because children in our sample rarely used signs to communicate. However, many other children with complex communication needs do use manual signs (Mirenda, 2003). Thus, future researchers may want to separate those forms of communication into different categories, or explicitly recruit children who use signs as a primary means of communication. Doing this could provide important information that could support intervention development related to multi-modal linguistic communication (i.e., speech, sign, aided AAC).

We focused on children's contributions to parent-child interactions, but future work should investigate the role of parent's interaction styles and language input during shared book reading, particularly for children with complex communication needs learning to use aided AAC. For example, researchers could focus on understanding what aspects of parent interaction contribute to children communicating more frequently. Or researchers, might seek to understand what parent interactions styles support children in participating actively in the types of communication exchanges that could especially support their learning (e.g., labeling or describing pictures, talking about the print, thinking cognitively about the story being read). Techniques such as using sequential analyses of parent-child communication could provide insights into their relationships with one another (i.e., what features of parent interactions recruit different types of desired child participation). Sequential analysis refers to a method of studying and analyzing the order and timing of specific behavior or communication acts over time (Brown

& Woods, 2016). Understanding the nuanced ways that parent communication and behavior impact children's communication contributions could lead better ways of supporting parents to use shared book reading to support their children's learning and development. Additionally, future work should continue to investigate parents' and children's use of aided AAC at home, and what interventions can be provided to support child and family outcomes in AAC through sustainable, practical, and socially valid ways.

Implications for Practice

The present study offers evidence of what normal everyday interactions look like for a child with their parent during shared book reading, particularly for elementary-aged children with complex communication needs learning to use aided AAC. There were several key findings that provide implications for practice. We found that children vary widely in how often they communicate, that children rarely use aided AAC devices even when they have them, and that children have different patterns of what their communication actually looks like. One of the most important implications for practitioners such as special education teachers, speech-language pathologists, or other service providers was the evidence that even when a child has access to a speech generating device, they may rarely use it to communicate with their parent in their home setting, at least during the context of shared book reading. Only one participant used their speech generating device during shared book reading, aligning with prior research stating the high rates of abandonment of AAC devices (Moorcroft et al., 2019). Research has concluded a main reason for this is the lack of support families of AAC users feel they receive from professionals (Moorcroft et al., 2020). Therefore, this study provides important implications for educators and service providers to provide family-centered AAC practices that allow families to feel more empowered related to the use of AAC.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

This explorative, descriptive study investigated the nature of children's communication while interacting with their parent during a shared reading, particularly for elementary-aged children who had complex communication needs and were learning to use aided AAC. In addition to learning that children almost never used their speech generating devices to communicate with their parents in this context, another key finding was that children rarely focused their communication on labeling or describing objects, referencing the print, or showing that they were thinking abstractly about the story—each which represent important ways of communicating that can provide a platform for other learning. We also found three different patterns of children's communication, shaped by their communication frequency. It is important to understand what the nature of children's communicative contributions look like with their parent, as communicative interactions between these two partners are bidirectional and transactional. Thus, the findings of this study provide important initial insight that can help shape the development of more effective interventions to support the communication of children with complex communication needs, especially at home. References

Interactions: Joint Engagement, Communication Dynamics, and Shared Topics in Autism, Down Syndrome, and Typical Development. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 42(12), 2622–2635. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1520-1</u>

Adamson, Bakeman, R., Deckner, D. F., & Nelson, P. B. (2012). Rating Parent-Child

- Adamson, Romski, M., Bakeman, R., & Sevcik, R. A. (2010). Augmented Language
 Intervention and the Emergence of Symbol-Infused Joint Engagement. *Journal of speech, language, and hearing research*, 53(6), 1769–1773. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-</u> 4388(2010/09-0208)
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2022a). *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.asha.org/practice-portal/professional-issues/augmentative-and-alternative-communication/.</u>
- Anderson, N. J., Graham, S. A., Prime, H., Jenkins, J. M., & Madigan, S. (2021). Linking Quality and Quantity of Parental Linguistic Input to Child Language Skills: A Meta-Analysis. Child Development, 92(2), 484–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13508
- Baker, C. E., & Vernon-Feagans, T. F. L. P. I. (2015). Fathers' language input during shared book activities: Links to children's kindergarten achievement. *Journal of applied developmental psychology*, 36, 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2014.11.009
- Barton-Hulsey, Lorang, E., Renfus, K., & Sterling, A. (2020). Maternal Input and Child Language Comprehension During Book Reading in Children With Down Syndrome.

American journal of speech-language pathology, 29(3), 1475–1488.

https://doi.org/10.1044/2020 AJSLP-19-00156

- Batorowicz, B., Campbell, F., von Tetzchner, S., King, G., & Missiuna, C. (2014). Social
 Participation of School-aged Children Who Use Communication Aids: The Views of
 Children and Parents. Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 30(3), 237–251.
 https://doi.org/10.3109/07434618.2014.940464
- Baxter, S., Enderby, P., Evans, P., & Judge, S. (2012). Barriers and facilitators to the use of hightechnology augmentative and alternative communication devices: a systematic review and qualitative synthesis. *International journal of language & communication disorders*, 47(2), 115–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-6984.2011.00090.x
- Berenguer, C., Martínez, E. R., De Stasio, S., & Baixauli, I. (2022). Parents' Perceptions and Experiences with Their Children's Use of Augmentative/Alternative Communication: A Systematic Review and Qualitative Meta-Synthesis. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 19(13), 8091–. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19138091
- Beukelman, D. R., & Light, J. C. (2020). *Augmentative and alternative communication: Supporting children and adults with complex communication needs* (5th ed.). Brookes.
- Biggs, Carter, E. W., & Gilson, C. B. (2018). Systematic Review of Interventions Involving Aided AAC Modeling for Children With Complex Communication Needs. *American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities*, 123(5), 443–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7</u>...

- Biggs, E. E., Arserio, A., Robison, S., & Ross, M. (2022). Home literacy environment and intervention for children with intellectual and developmental disabilities: A scoping review. Manuscript in review.
- Biggs, E. E., & Meadan, H. (2018). Early Communication Interventions for Young Children
 With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities: The Roles of Natural Communication
 Partners (Vol. 55, pp. 1–37). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irrdd.2018.08.005
- Bloom, K., Russell, A., & Wassenberg, K. (1987). Turn taking affects the quality of infant vocalizations. *Journal of child language*, *14*(2), 211-227.
 doi:10.1017/S0305000900012897
- Bornstein, M. H., & Tamis-LeMonda, C. S. (1989). Maternal responsiveness and cognitive development in children. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development, 1989(43), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.23219894306
- Brady, Bruce, S., Goldman, A., Erickson, K., Mineo, B., Ogletree, B. T., Paul, D., Romski, M. A., Sevcik, R., Siegel, E., Schoonover, J., Snell, M., Sylvester, L., & Wilkinson, K. (2016). Communication Services and Supports for Individuals With Severe Disabilities: Guidance for Assessment and Intervention. *American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities*, 121(2), 121–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-121.2.121</u>
- Browder, D. M., Lee, A., & Mims, P. (2011). Using Shared Stories and Individual Response Modes to Promote Comprehension and Engagement in Literacy for Students with

Multiple, Severe Disabilities. Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities, 46(3), 339–351.

- Brown, J. A., & Woods, J. J. (2016). Parent-Implemented Communication Intervention:
 Sequential Analysis of Triadic Relationships. Topics in Early Childhood Special
 Education, 36(2), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121416628200
- Chavers, Morris, M., Schlosser, R. W., & Koul, R. (2021). Effects of a Systematic Augmentative and Alternative Communication Intervention Using a Speech generating Device on Multistep Requesting and Generic Small Talk for Children With Severe Autism Spectrum Disorder. *American journal of speech-language pathology*, 30(6), 2476–2491. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_A...
- Cohen J. A Coefficient of Agreement for Nominal Scales. Educational and psychological measurement. 1960;20(1):37-46. doi:10.1177/001316446002000104
- Copeland, S. R., Keefe, E. B., Tatz, J. E., & Carpio-Mariano, L. (2018). *Effective Literacy Instruction for Learners with Complex Support Needs*. Brookes Publishing.
- Da Fonte, & Boesch, M. C. (2019). *Effective augmentative and alternative communication* practices: a handbook for school-based practitioners. Routledge.
- Dowdall, N., Melendez-Torres, G. J., Murray, L., Gardner, F., Hartford, L., & Cooper, P. J.
 (2020). Shared Picture Book Reading Interventions for Child Language Development: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Child Development, 91(2), e383–e399.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13225

- Ezell, H. K., & Justice, L. M.(1998). A pilot investigation of parents' questions about print and pictures to preschoolers with language delay. Child Language Teaching and Therapy, 14(3),273–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/026565</u>...
- Fäldt, Fabian, H., Thunberg, G., & Lucas, S. (2020). "All of a sudden we noticed a difference at home too": parents' perception of a parent-focused early communication and AAC intervention for toddlers. Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 36(3), 143–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07434618.2020.1811757</u>
- Fleury, & Hugh, M. L. (2018). Exploring Engagement in Shared Reading Activities Between Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Their Caregivers. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 48(10), 3596–3607. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3632-8</u>
- Ganz, Earles-Vollrath, T. L., Heath, A. K., Parker, R. I., Rispoli, M. J., & Duran, J. B. (2011). A Meta-Analysis of Single Case Research Studies on Aided Augmentative and Alternative Communication Systems with Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *42*(1), 60–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1212-2
- Ganz, & Hong, E. R. (2014). AAC Intervention Mediated by Natural Communication Partners. In Aided Augmentative Communication for Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders (pp. 77–93). Springer New York. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-</u>...
- Gevarter, O'Reilly, M. F., Kuhn, M., Mills, K., Ferguson, R., Watkins, L., Sigafoos, J., Lang, R., Rojeski, L., & Lancioni, G. E. (2016). Increasing the vocalizations of individuals with

autism during intervention with a speech generating device. *Journal of applied behavior analysis*, 49(1), 17–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.270</u>

- Gilkerson, Richards, J. A., & Topping, K. J. (2017). The impact of book reading in the early years on parent– child language interaction. *Journal of early childhood literacy*, 17(1), 92–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/146879</u>...
- Hudson, & Test, D. W. (2011). Evaluating the Evidence Base of Shared Story Reading to
 Promote Literacy for Students with Extensive Support Needs. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 36(1-2), 34–45.
- Jeon, H.-J., Peterson, C. A., & DeCoster, J. (2013). Parent–child interaction, task-oriented regulation, and cognitive development in toddlers facing developmental risks. *Journal of applied developmental psychology*, 34(6), 257–267.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2013.08.002

- Johnson, J. M., Inglebret, E., Jones, C., & Ray, J. (2006). Perspectives of speech language pathologists regarding success versus abandonment of AAC. Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 22(2), 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/07434610500483588
- Justice, L. M., Weber, S. E., Ezell, H. K., & Bakeman, R. (2002). A Sequential Analysis of Children's Responsiveness to Parental Print References During Shared Book-Reading Interactions. *American journal of speech-language pathology*, 11(1), 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2002/004)

- Kay-Raining Bird, E., & Cleave, P.(2015). Mothers' talk to children with Down syndrome, language impairment, or typical development about familiar and unfamiliar nouns and verbs. *Journal of child language*, 43(5), 10772–11102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S03050</u>...
- Kent-Walsh, Binger, C., & Hasham, Z. (2010). Effects of parent instruction on the symbolic communication of children using augmentative and alternative communication during storybook reading. American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 19(2), 97–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2010/09-0014)</u>
- Kent-Walsh, J., Murza, K. A., Malani, M. D., & Binger, C. (2015). Effects of Communication Partner Instruction on the Communication of Individuals using AAC: A Meta-Analysis. Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 31(4), 271–284. https://doi.org/10.3109/07434618.2015.1052153
- Laks, D. R., Beckwith, L., Cohen, S. E., & Cohen, S. E. (1990). Mothers' Use of Personal Pronouns when Talking with Toddlers. *The journal of genetic psychology*, 151(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.1990.9914641
- Landry, S. H., Smith, K. E., & Swank, P. R. (2006). Responsive Parenting: Establishing Early
 Foundations for Social, Communication, and Independent Problem-Solving Skills.
 Developmental psychology, 42(4), 627–642. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.4.627
- Landry, S. H., Smith, K. E., Swank, P. R., Assel, M. A., & Vellet, S. (2001). Does Early Responsive Parenting Have a Special Importance for Children's Development or Is

Consistency Across Early Childhood Necessary? *Developmental psychology*, 37(3), 387–403. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.37.3.387

- Landry, S. H., Smith, K. E., Swank, P. R., Zucker, T., Crawford, A. D., & Solari, E. F. (2012).
 The Effects of a Responsive Parenting Intervention on Parent-Child Interactions During
 Shared Book Reading. *Developmental psychology*, 48(4), 969–986.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026400
- Lanter, E., Freeman, D., & Dove, S. (2013). Procedural and conceptual print-related achievements in young children with autism spectrum disorders. Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 28(1), 14–25. https
 ://doi.org/10.1177/1088357612459270
- Liboiron, & Soto, G. (2006). Shared storybook reading with a student who uses alternative and augmentative communication: A description of scaffolding practices. Child Language Teaching and Therapy, 22(1), 69–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/026565</u>...
- Light, J., & McNaughton, D. (2012). The Changing Face of Augmentative and Alternative Communication: Past, Present, and Future Challenges. Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 28(4), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.3109/07434618.2012.737024
- Lorah, Parnell, A., Whitby, P. S., & Hantula, D. (2014). A Systematic Review of Tablet Computers and Portable Media Players as Speech Generating Devices for Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 3792–3804. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2314-4</u>

- Marshall, J., & Goldbart, J. (2008). "Communication is everything I think." Parenting a child who needs Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC). International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 43(1), 77–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/13682820701267444
- McNaughton, Rackensperger, T., Benedek-Wood, E., Krezman, C., Williams, M. B., & Light, J. (2008). "A child needs to be given a chance to succeed": Parents of individuals who use AAC describe the benefits and challenges of learning AAC technologies. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*, 24(1), 43–55.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07434610701421007

- Mendelsohn, A. L., Cates, C. B., Weisleder, A., Johnson, S. B., Seery, A. M., Canfield, C. F., Huberman, H. S., & Dreyer, B. P. (2018). Reading Aloud, Play, and Social-Emotional Development. Pediatrics (Evanston), 141(5), 1–. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-3393
- Miller, J. F., Andriacchi, K., Nockerts, A., Westerveld, M. F., & Gillon, G. (2019). Assessing language production using Salt Software: A clinician's guide to language sample analysis (3rd ed.). SALT Software, LLC.
- Mirenda, P. (2003). Toward Functional Augmentative and Alternative Communication for Students With Autism: Manual Signs, Graphic Symbols, and Voice Output Communication Aids. *Language, speech & hearing services in schools*, 34(3), 203–216. https://doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461(2003/017)
- Moorcroft, A., Scarinci, N., & Meyer, C. (2021). "I've had a love-hate, I mean mostly hate relationship with these PODD books": parent perceptions of how they and their child

contributed to AAC rejection and abandonment. *Disability and rehabilitation: assistive technology*, 16(1), 72–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/17483107.2019.1632944

- Moorcroft, A., Scarinci, N., & Meyer, C. (2019). Speech pathologist perspectives on the acceptance versus rejection or abandonment of AAC systems for children with complex communication needs. Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 35(3), 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/07434618.2019.1609577
- Moorcroft, A., Scarinci, N., & Meyer, C. (2020). "We were just kind of handed it and then it was smoke bombed by everyone": How do external stakeholders contribute to parent rejection and the abandonment of AAC systems? *International journal of language & communication disorders*, 55(1), 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12502
- Morin, K. L., Ganz, J. B., Gregori, E. V., Foster, M. J., Gerow, S. L., Genç-Tosun, D., & Hong,
 E. R. (2018). A systematic quality review of high-tech AAC interventions as an evidencebased practice. *Augmentative and alternative communication*, *34*(2), 104-117. https://doi.org/10.1080/07434618.2018.1458900
- Mucchetti, C. A. (2013). Adapted shared reading at school for minimally verbal students with autism. *Autism: the international journal of research and practice*, 17(3), 358–372. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312470495
- O'Neill, Light, J., & Pope, L. (2018). Effects of Interventions That Include Aided Augmentative and Alternative Communication Input on the Communication of Individuals With Complex Communication Needs: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of speech, language, and hearing research*, 61(7), 1743–1765. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2018_JSLHR-L-17-0132</u>

- Roberts, M. Y., & Kaiser, A. P. (2011). The effectiveness of parent-implemented language interventions: A meta-analysis. American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 20(3), 180e199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2011/10-0055</u>.
- Romski, Sevcik, R. A., Adamson, L. B., Cheslock, M., Smith, A., Barker, R. M., & Bakeman, R. (2010). Randomized comparison of augmented and nonaugmented language interventions for toddlers with developmental delays and their parents. *Journal of speech, language, and hearing research*, *53*(2), 350–364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2009/08-0156)</u>
- Romski, Sevcik, R. A., Adamson, L. B., Smith, A., Cheslock, M., & Bakeman, R. (2011). Parent Perceptions of the Language Development of Toddlers With Developmental Delays Before and After Participation in Parent-Coached Language Interventions. *American journal of speech-language pathology*, 20(2), 111–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-</u> 0360(2011/09-0087)
- Romski, Sevcik, R. A., Barton-Hulsey, A., & Whitmore, A. S. (2015). Early Intervention and
 AAC: What a Difference 30 Years Makes. *Augmentative and alternative communication*, 31(3), 181–202. <u>https://wwwtandfonline-</u>

com.proxy.library.vanderbilt.edu/doi/pdf/10.3109/07434618.2015.1064163?needAcces

Rowe, M. L. (2012). A Longitudinal Investigation of the Role of Quantity and Quality of Child-Directed Speech in Vocabulary Development. *Child development*, 83(5), 1762–1774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01805.x</u>

- Rowland, C., & Fried-Oken, M. (2010). Communication Matrix: A clinical and research assessment tool targeting children with severe communication disorders. *Journal of pediatric rehabilitation medicine*,3(4), 319–329. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/PRM-2010-0144</u>
- Sameroff, A. J., & Fiese, B. H. (2000). Transactional regulation: The developmental ecology of early intervention. In J. P. Shonkoff, & S. J. Meisels (Eds.), *Handbook of early childhood intervention* (pp. 135e159). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Scarborough, H. S., & Dobrich, W. (1994). On the Efficacy of Reading to Preschoolers. Developmental review, 14(3), 245–302. https://doi.org/10.1006/drev.1994.1010
- Schickedanz, J. A., & McGee, L. M. (2010). The NELP report on shared story reading interventions (Chapter 4) extending the story. *Educational researcher*, 39(4), 323–329. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X10370206.
- Sénéchal, M. (2006). Testing the Home Literacy Model: Parent involvement in kindergarten is differentially related to Grade 4 reading comprehension, fluency, spelling, and reading for pleasure. *Scientific studies of reading*, 10(1), 59–87.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532799xssr1001_

- Spiker D, Boyce G, Boyce L. 2002 Parent-child interactions when young children have disabilities. Int Rev Res Ment Retard 25:35–70.
- Stanger, C., Mims, P., Wood, L., & Ahlgrim-Delzell, L. (2016). Supporting Literacy Achievement for Students with Intellectual Disability and Autism through Curricular Programs that Incorporate Assistive Technology. *Assistive technology outcomes and benefits*, 10(1), 51–73.

- Thompson, J. R., Wehmeyer, M. L., Hughes, C., Shogren, K. A., Palmer, S. B., & Seo, H. (2014). The Supports Intensity Scale–Children's Version: Preliminary Reliability and Validity. *Inclusion*, 2(2), 140-149
- Tipton, L. A., Blacher, J. B., & Eisenhower, A. S. (2017). Young children with ASD: Parent strategies for interaction during adapted book reading activity. *Remedial and special education*, 38(3), 171–180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932516677831</u>.
- Trenholm, B., & Mirenda, P.(2006). Home and community liter-acy experiences of individuals with Down syndrome. *Down syndrome research and practice*, 10(1), 30–40
- Van Zeijl, J., Mesman, J., Van IJzendoorn, M. H., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Juffer, F., Stolk, M. N., Koot, H. M., & Alink, L. R. A. (2006). Attachment-Based Intervention for Enhancing Sensitive Discipline in Mothers of 1- to 3-Year-Old Children at Risk for Externalizing Behavior Problems: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 74(6), 994–1005. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.74.6.994
- Walker, R., Swain, J., & Pellicano, E. (2022). "It's about sharing a moment": Parents' views and experiences of home reading with their autistic children with moderate-to-severe intellectual disabilities. *Research in developmental disabilities*, *128*, 104289–104289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd...</u>
- Warren, S. F., & Brady, N. C. (2007). The role of maternal responsivity in the development of children with intellectual disabilities. *Mental retardation and developmental disabilities research reviews*, 13(4), 330–338. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.20177

Westerveld, M. F., Paynter, J., Trembath, D., Webster, A. A., Hodge, A. M., & Roberts, J.
(2017). The emergent literacy skills of preschool children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*,47(2), 424–438. https
://doi.org/10.1007/s1080 3-016-2964-5.

Westerveld, M. F., Paynter, J., & Wicks, R. (2020). Shared Book Reading Behaviors of Parents and Their Verbal Preschoolers on the Autism Spectrum. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 50(8), 3005–3017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803...</u>

Westerveld, M. F., Trembath, D., Shellshear, L., & Paynter, J. (2016). A systematic review of the literature on emergent literacy skills of preschool children with autism spectrum disorder. *The journal of special education*, 50(1), 37–48.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466915613593.

Westerveld, M., & van Bysterveldt, A. K. (2017). The Home Literacy Environment of Preschool-Age Children with Autism or Down Syndrome. *Folia phoniatrica et logopaedica: official organ of the International Association of Logopedics and Phoniatrics (IALP)*, 69(1-2), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1159/000475840

Wilder J., Magnusson L., Hanson E. (2015). Professionals' and Parents' Shared Learning in Blended Learning Networks Related to Communication and Augmentative And Alternative Communication for People With Severe Disabilities. *European journal of special needs education*; 30:367–383. doi: 10.1080/08856257.2015.1023002

- Whitbread, Knapp, S. L., & Bengtson, M. (2021). Teaching Foundational Reading Skills to Students with Intellectual Disabilities. *Teaching exceptional children*, 53(6), 424–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059920976674</u>
- Whitehurst, G. J., & Lonigan, C. J. (1998). Child development and emergent literacy. *Child development*, 69(3), 848–872. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1132208</u>.
- Woynaroski, T., Yoder, P. J., Fey, M. E., & Warren, S. F. (2014). A Transactional Model of Spoken Vocabulary Variation in Toddlers with Intellectual Disabilities. *Journal of speech, language, and hearing research*, 57(5), 1754–1763. https://doi.org/10.1044/2014_JSLHR-L-13-0252